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A. INTRODUCTION 
 
Daniel Dunlap made several remarks to two preteens at a 

backyard BBQ that they were “cute together” and “should 

kiss.”  He later briefly touched one of the preteens on the leg 

while they were all in a hot tub together.  For this, he was 

convicted of felony communication with a minor for “immoral 

purposes” and fourth degree assault with sexual motivation.  

But the State overcharged its case and spread its evidence 

too thin, bolstering the insufficient evidence on the felony 

communication count with the misdemeanor assault evidence.  

The Court of Appeals permitted the State to cure its overreach 

on appeal by conceding double jeopardy, rewriting the trial 

court’s findings in the process. 

This case presents this Court with the opportunity to 

clarify that “immoral purposes” is defined as illegal sexual 

conduct.  Pursuant to this definition, Daniel’s comments—

standing alone—were insufficient to sustain a communication 

conviction.  Review is thus warranted.  
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B.  IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 
 
 Daniel Dunlap asks this Court to review the opinion of 

the Court of Appeals in State v. Dunlap, No. 56199-89-II (filed 

Jan. 10, 2023), pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).   

C.  ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 
 

1. Under RCW 9.68A.090, it is unlawful to 

“communicate[] with a minor for immoral purposes.”  This 

Court has defined “immoral purposes” to mean “sexual 

misconduct,” leaving the statute open to overbroad and 

arbitrary enforcement.  Some Court of Appeals decisions have 

more narrowly defined “immoral purposes” as illegal sexual 

misconduct, reasoning the government cannot constitutionally 

prohibit communications regarding legal sexual conduct.  This 

Court should accept review to clarify that “immoral purposes” 

is defined as illegal sexual misconduct and excludes conduct 

that would be legal if performed.  RAP 13.4(b)(3); U.S. Const. 

amend. I, XIV.   
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2. Following a bench trial, appellate review is limited to 

determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings 

of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions 

of law.  State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 103, 105–106, 330 P.3d 

182 (2014).  Here, the trial court’s written order indicated it did 

not consider the assault evidence in convicting on the 

communication count, rendering the evidence on that count 

insufficient.  Yet the Court of Appeals found otherwise and 

concluded the lower court violated the prohibition on double 

jeopardy.  Review is warranted to reaffirm that Homan provides 

the correct standard of review for bench trial findings.  RAP 

13.4(b)(1). 

3. Under a constitutionally permissible articulation of the 

elements of communication with a minor for immoral purposes, 

the State must prove (1) the defendant made a communication 

through words or conduct to a minor, (2) the purpose was to 

expose the minor to or involve the minor in illegal sexual 

misconduct, and (3) the minor received the communications.  
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Here, the trial court found the charged victim heard Daniel say 

that she and a preteen boy should “kiss” and make vague 

comments about her swimsuit.  But two preteens kissing is not 

illegal.  Review is warranted as the State failed to prove that 

Daniel made communications for the purpose of exposing the 

charged victim to or involving her in illegal sexual misconduct.  

RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 
 Daniel was invited to friend’s backyard BBQ.  The 

friend’s preteen son, “Brice,” was at the BBQ, as was 

“Melanie,” and Melanie’s friend, “Oriana,”1 both twelve years 

old.  RP 47, 99, 127–28.  Melanie’s uncle, Drew, was grilling 

food.  RP 103, 174–75.  There was a pool in the side yard as 

well as a hot tub on the back deck.  RP 102.     

 The three kids decided to go swimming in the pool. RP 

51.  Oriana borrowed an adult-size bikini as she had not 

brought a swimsuit.  RP 51.  The swimsuit fit “okay” but the 

                                            
1 All pseudonyms.   
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straps to the bikini top became undone when Oriana jumped in 

the pool, although she was not exposed.  RP 51, 78–79.   

After the kids finished swimming, they got into the hot 

tub and started watching a movie.  RP 54–55.  Daniel then went 

swimming.  RP 54.  The kids got out to eat, and Daniel and 

Uncle Drew went into the hot tub.  RP 57–58.  The kids joined 

them, though Uncle Drew got out soon after to clean up the 

BBQ.  RP 58, 112.   

 While in the hot tub, Daniel mentioned the incident with 

Oriana’s swimsuit top, although Oriana couldn’t remember 

exactly what he said.  RP 62–63.  Daniel also told Brice and 

Oriana that they were “cute together” and that they “should 

kiss.”  RP 60, 85.  Oriana thought these statements were “weird 

and kind of, like, inappropriate, you know, because if we did 

like each other, it would be different but we didn’t.”  RP 61.  

Brice felt Daniel was making these statements “as like a joke.”  

RP 176.      
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 Daniel also whispered to Brice that “if he were my age, 

he would smash [Oriana].”  RP 166–67.  However, Daniel did 

not say this to Oriana, and she apparently did not hear him say 

this.  RP 167.   

 Melanie and Oriana got out to get some drinks.  RP 67.  

Melanie decided Daniel’s comments were making her 

uncomfortable and went to tell her mom.  RP 113–114.  Oriana 

went with her.  RP 66.   

When Melanie told her mother that Daniel made her 

uncomfortable, her mother asked if Uncle Drew had intervened.  

RP 152.  When Melanie responded Uncle Drew had not, her 

mother told her to “[g]o talk to Uncle Drew.”  RP 134. 

Oriana went back and joined Brice and Daniel in the hot 

tub and Melanie sat next to the hot tub.  RP 115.  Oriana 

thought everything was “just fine and we were overreacting 

about the situation.”  RP 83.  They started to watch another 

movie and Oriana, Brice, and Daniel remained in the hot tub for 

another several hours.  RP 81–82.  Oriana does not remember 
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Daniel saying anything else after she got back into the hot tub.  

RP 68.   

 After several hours, Oriana felt someone’s feet touching 

hers.  RP 69.  She later felt Daniel’s hand touch her thigh for “a 

few seconds.”  RP 87.  Startled, Oriana stood up immediately 

and got out of the hot tub.  RP 72.  She told Melanie, who 

insisted they tell her mother.  RP 72, 116.   

 Melanie went to tell her mother she wanted to leave and 

that Daniel touched Oriana.  RP 116, 135.  Her mother, who 

had been drinking heavily, became upset, told them to go into 

the bedroom and lock the door, and then called police.  RP 138, 

210–11.  Uncle Drew drove Daniel home, after which the police 

arrived.  RP 138.   

 The prosecution charged Daniel with felony 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes and assault 

in the fourth degree with sexual motivation, naming Oriana as 



 

8 
 

the victim.  CP 5.  After a bench trial, the court found him 

guilty on all counts.2  CP 36, 54. 

 On appeal, Daniel argued that there was insufficient 

evidence to sustain the communication conviction, or, in the 

alternative, that the communication and assault convictions 

violated double jeopardy.  The Court of Appeals agreed that the 

convictions violated double jeopardy, concluding that the 

“‘conduct’ proving the communication charge was the touching 

of [Oriana’s] thigh.” Op. at 18.  Accordingly, the Court of 

Appeals reversed the assault conviction, but affirmed the 

communication conviction.  Daniel now asks this Court to grant 

review to clarify the statutory interpretation of “immoral 

purposes” and evaluate the sufficiency of the evidence 

supporting the communication count.   

 

                                            
2 Daniel was also charged and convicted of furnishing 

liquor to minors, but that conviction is not at issue in this 
appeal.   



 

9 
 

D.  ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 
 

1. The definition of “immoral purpose” must exclude 
legal sexual conduct; otherwise the communication 
statute is unconstitutionally overbroad and vague.   

 
A criminal law is unconstitutionally vague pursuant to 

the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause if “(1) the 

statute does not define the criminal offense with sufficient 

definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct 

is prohibited; or (2) the statute does not provide ascertainable 

standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement.”  

City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wn.2d 19, 30, 992 P.2d 496 

(2000) (citations and quotations omitted).  A statute is 

unconstitutionally overbroad pursuant to the First Amendment 

if it “reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected 

conduct.”  Id. at 26–27.   

Under RCW 9.68A.090, it is unlawful to “communicate[] 

with a minor for immoral purposes.”  However, the statute does 

not define “immoral purposes,” and has been the subject of 

vagueness, overbreadth, and other constitutional challenges 
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since it was first enacted in 1975.  Comment, WPIC 47.06 

(collecting cases); U.S. Const. amend. I, XIV.  These cases 

have not clearly defined what constitutes “immoral purposes.” 

This Court first limited the definition of “immoral 

purposes” to mean “sexual misconduct” in State v. 

Schimmelpfennig, 92 Wn.2d 95, 102, 594 P.2d 442 (1979).  In 

State v. Danforth, Division I of the Court of Appeals went 

further, concluding the definition of “immoral purpose” was 

limited to the crimes listed in Chapter 9.68A, which largely 

concern child prostitution and child pornography.  56 Wn. App. 

133, 782 P.2d 1091 (1989).  Accordingly, Division I held that 

the male defendant’s conduct—communicating with a 16-year-

old male and a 17-year-old male about participating in 

consensual, legal sexual activity—was not a communication for 

an “immoral purpose.”  Id. at 135.   

In State v. Luther, Division II of the Court of Appeals 

critiqued the holding in Danforth, concluding that “immoral 

purposes” should not be limited to the crimes listed in Chapter 
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9.68A, and found that Danforth went “beyond what was 

necessary to decide the case.” 65 Wn. App. 424, 426, 830 P.2d 

674 (1992).  The Luther Court held “immoral purposes” must 

instead be construed to exclude “sexual conduct that would be 

legal if performed.”  Id. at 428; see also State v. Young, 92 Wn. 

App. 850, 369 P.3d 205 (2016) (unpublished portion) (applying 

Luther’s definition); State v. Pietrzak, 100 Wn. App. 291, 997 

P.2d 947 (2000) (same).   

As in Danforth, the underlying sexual conduct in Luther 

was legal: a 16-year-old girl engaged in two consensual sexual 

acts with a 16-year-old boy.  Luther, 65 Wn. App. at 425.  Each 

time, the boy asked the girl whether she was going to perform 

the act as she had previously offered.  Id.  Although the State 

could not charge the boy for the legal consensual acts, it 

creatively charged him with communicating with the girl for the 

“immoral purpose” of engaging in the consensual acts.  Id.  The 

Luther Court reversed the conviction, concluding there was “no 

rational reason for prohibiting communications about peaceful, 
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consensual conduct that will itself be legal if performed.”  Id. at 

428.   

Then in State v. McNallie, this Court explicitly 

“overrule[d] Danforth insofar as it requires reference to the 

individual sections of chapter 9.68 RCW to define the ‘immoral 

purposes’ for which communication with minors is legislatively 

prohibited.”  120 Wn.2d 925, 933, 846 P.2d 1358 (1993).  

Relying on Schimmelpfennig, this Court held the term “immoral 

purpose” pertained to “the rather broad area of ‘sexual 

misconduct.’” Id. at 932.  This Court thus concluded the jury 

instruction that defined the element as “immoral purposes of 

sexual nature” was “adequate.”  Id. at 933. 

But this definition was not “adequate.”  Following 

McNallie, lower courts have struggled to apply “the rather 

broad area of ‘sexual misconduct.’”  Id. at 932.  The result is a 

criminal standard the functional equivalent of “I know it when I 

see it.”  Jacobellis v. Ohio, 378 U.S. 184, 197, 84 S. Ct. 1676, 
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12 L. Ed. 2d 793 (1964) (Stewart, J., concurring) (on how 

“hard-core pornography” should be defined for obscenity law).   

Under McNallie’s broad definition, the State may 

prosecute communications regarding any act it subjectively 

perceives to be “sexual misconduct” or “immoral.”  This could 

extend to sexual relations between of-age teenagers, as in 

Luther; consensual non-heteronormative sexual relations, as in 

Danforth; or even a teacher giving a lesson on the practicalities 

of contraception and “safe sex” to students.3  Such a result fails 

to provide adequate notice of the prohibited conduct, invites 

arbitrary enforcement, and sweeps broadly into constitutionally 

protected conduct.4  Lorang, 140 Wn.2d at 26–27, 30; State v. 

                                            
3 See, e.g., Reykdal v. Espinoza, 196 Wn.2d 458, 464, 

473 P.3d 1221 (2020) (concluding in a defamation case that 
diagrams in a sexual health book recommended by the 
Washington Superintendent of Public Instruction “could result 
in unintentionally exposing fourth graders to depictions of, and 
thus ‘teaching’ them, different sexual positions.”).   

4 The Court of Appeals stated in a footnote that Daniel 
did not raise this argument in the opening brief and thus waived 
the issue.  Op. 14 n.6.  However, Daniel has consistently argued 
for this interpretation of “immoral purposes,” see Brief of App. 
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Wissing, 66 Wn. App. 745, 755, 833 P.2d 424 (1992) (rejecting 

the State’s argument the statute “prohibits communication with 

a minor for the purposes of any sexual misconduct, even if that 

conduct is not itself illegal,” because “[a]bsent some intelligible 

and clear reference to which the phrase ‘immoral purposes’ can 

be tied, the statute would not provide notice of the conduct 

sought to be prohibited and therefore would be 

unconstitutionally vague.”)   

This Court should accept review, adopt Division II’s 

definition of “immoral purposes” as articulated in Luther,5 and 

                                            
at 2–3, and noted that a contrary interpretation would raise 
constitutional concerns.  Id. at 11–12, 20.  In its response brief, 
the State argued the “sexual misconduct” standard was 
constitutionally sound, Brief of Resp. at 21–27, and Daniel thus 
devoted a significant portion of his reply brief explaining why 
this interpretation is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.  
Reply Brief of App. at 2–7; RAP 10.3(c) (reply briefs should 
“be limited to a response to the issues in the brief to which the 
reply brief is directed.”).  The issue should thus not be 
considered waived. 

5 Although this Court tacitly rejected Luther’s reasoning 
in C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 
699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999), the question presented there was 
whether child sex abuse victims could recover damages when 
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clarify that criminal liability only attaches to communications 

with a minor for the purposes of engaging them in illegal sexual 

misconduct.  Such a result will eliminate subjective assessments 

of whether any particular conduct is “immoral” and diminish 

the possibility of criminalizing constitutionally protected 

speech.   

2. The evidence is insufficient to sustain the 
communication conviction.   
 

a. The trial court did not consider the fourth-
degree assault as evidence of communication. 

 
Following a bench trial, a trial court “should address the 

elements of each crime separately and indicate the factual basis 

for each.”  State v. Denison, 78 Wn. App. 566, 570, 897 P.2d 

437 (1995).  In reviewing a bench trial ruling, “appellate review 

                                            
the underlying acts of fondling were not criminal at the time 
they occurred.  Id. at 714–15.  This Court held that the acts 
were “communications for an immoral purpose,” permitting the 
victims to recover.  Id.  However, given the civil posture of 
C.J.C. and the fact these constitutional issues were not 
addressed, it should not be considered binding on the issue 
presented here.   
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is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports 

the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the 

conclusions of law.”  State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 103, 105–

106, 330 P.3d 182 (2014); see also Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto 

Plaza, Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009) 

(“Appellate courts do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or 

substitute their opinions for those of the trier-of-fact.  Instead, 

they must defer to the factual findings made by the trier-of-

fact.”) 

Here, the trial court made written findings of fact 

following a bench trial.  CP 32–35.  Significantly, the trial 

court’s factual findings summarizing the evidence for each 

count make clear it did not consider the touching of Oriana’s 

thigh as evidence supporting the communication conviction:  

(17) The Court finds that the defendant wished to 
communicate, and did in fact communicate, to [Oriana] 
that he found her sexually desirable.  The Court finds that 
the essence of this communication was the defendant 
inviting or attempting to cause [Oriana] to engage in 
sexual contact with him or with other persons present as 
a sexual exhibition for his viewing.  The defendant’s 
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communication was made by both words and conduct.  
This communication was for an immoral purpose, given 
the age disparities between the defendant and [Oriana.] 
 
(18) The Court finds the touching of [Oriana’s] thigh by 
the defendant was an assault as it was unwanted and 
objectively offensive contact with her person.  The Court 
further finds this crime was sexually motivated, as the 
defendant committed it for the purpose of his sexual 
gratification. 
 

CP 34.  Finding of Fact 17 summarizes the evidence supporting 

the communications charge, but does not mention the touching 

of Oriana’s leg.  Finding of Fact 18—which summarizes the 

evidence supporting the assault conviction—does.  These 

findings indicate the court did not consider the touching as 

evidence supporting the communications charge.  

  Nor could it.  As the Court of Appeals concluded, to 

predicate both the assault and communications conviction on 

the touching of Oriana’s leg would violate the prohibition on 

double jeopardy under the Fifth Amendment.  Op. at 16–19; 

U.S. Const. amend. V; Const. art. I, § 9.  This Court should 

presume that the court below recognized the double jeopardy 
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issue and analyzed the facts accordingly.  State v. Disney, 199 

Wn. App. 422, 432, 398 P.3d 1218 (2017) (“[I]n a bench trial, 

we will presume that the judge followed the law and considered 

evidence solely for proper purposes.”); accord State v. Adams, 

91 Wn.2d 86, 93, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978); see also Supp. CP. __ 

(Sub. No. 26 at 6) (Knapstad motion flagging the double 

jeopardy issue for the court).  

  Yet the Court of Appeals held otherwise, concluding that 

the court’s vague reference to “conduct” in Finding of Fact 17, 

coupled with the court’s oral ruling, referred to Daniel’s 

touching of Oriana’s thigh.  Op. at 14. Specifically, the Court of 

Appeals cited the lower court’s statements in open court that 

the assault made it “harder and harder to conclude that the 

actions of the defendant were merely smoke.  At that point, I 

think we see flames.”  Op. at 5, 14; RP 242.  The trial court also 

referenced the assault as crossing “the Rubicon River.”  Id.   

  However, a trial court’s oral ruling “has no final or 

binding effect unless formally incorporated into the findings, 
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conclusions, and judgment.”  State v. Mallory, 69 Wn.2d 532, 

533–34, 419 P.2d 324 (1966).  Here, the court’s statements in 

open court were not incorporated into its final written order.  

CP 32–35.  Further, its oral ruling is inconsistent with its 

written order.  See State v. Kull, 155 Wn.2d 80, 88, 118 P.3d 

307 (2005) (“An appellate court may consider a trial court’s 

oral decision so long as it is not inconsistent with the trial 

court’s written findings and conclusions.”) (emphasis added).  

The Court of Appeals’ reliance on the trial court’s oral ruling to 

affirm the communication conviction was misplaced. 

  In sum, the Court of Appeals ignored the clear 

demarcation of evidence in the court’s written ruling, gave 

weight to an inconsistent oral ruling, and ignored Homan’s 

standard of review.  This Court should thus determine the 

sufficiency of the evidence on the communications charge 

without consideration of the assault.  And the remaining 

evidence is insufficient.    
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b. Excluding the evidence of assault, there is 
insufficient evidence to sustain the 
communications conviction.   

 
Oriana was the only victim charged in the information for 

the communications count. CP 5.  Thus, the only relevant 

communications are those that Oriana “received.” State v. 

Hosier, 157 Wn.2d 1, 9, 133 P.3d 936 (2006) (communications 

must be both “transmitted by the person and received by the 

minor.”).   

Here, the Court of Appeals concluded the evidence 

supported the lower court’s findings regarding the following 

communications “received” by Oriana: (1) “telling [Oriana] and 

[Brice] that they should “kiss,” and (2) “mention[ing] the 

incident with [Oriana’s] swimsuit several times.”  CP 33; Op. at 

8–11.6   

                                            
6 Although the Court of Appeals found other findings of 

fact were supported by substantial evidence, these are the only 
communications the Court acknowledged Oriana actually 
received.  
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To pass constitutional muster, a conviction under RCW 

9.68A.090 must be supported by evidence the defendant 

communicated with a minor for the purpose of exposing and 

involving that minor in illegal sexual misconduct.  Luther, 65 

Wn. App. at 428.  Two preteens sharing a consensual kiss is not 

illegal sexual misconduct.    

Daniel’s comments that Brice and Oriana should “kiss” 

may have been tasteless and misguided, but they were not 

criminal.  This Court should accept review and reverse the 

conviction for communication with a minor for immoral 

purposes.   

E.  CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, this Court should accept 

review.   

F. CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

In compliance with RAP 18.17(b), counsel certifies that 

this brief contains 3,421 words (word count by Microsoft 

Word).  
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Attorney for Daniel Dunlap 
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entering convictions for both communication with a minor for immoral purposes and fourth degree 

assault with sexual motivation, and the trial court erred by imposing certain LFOs.  Accordingly, 
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to vacate the fourth degree assault with sexual motivation charge and resentence Dunlap consistent 

with this opinion. 
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FACTS 

 Dunlap, a 39-year-old man, attended a party with three other adults and three children.  

Dunlap spent multiple hours in a hot tub with the three children and provided beer and vodka to 

them.  Throughout the party, Dunlap made several remarks about and to 12-year-old O.A.1,2   

O.A. told an adult at the party that Dunlap had touched her leg close to her private part.  

The adult confronted Dunlap and called the police.  

The State charged Dunlap with communication with a minor for immoral purposes, fourth 

degree assault with sexual motivation, and furnishing liquor to minors.  The charge for 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes was a felony charge because Dunlap had 

previously been convicted of other felony sex offenses.   

 Dunlap waived his right to a jury trial and elected a bench trial.  At trial, all three children 

and two adults testified about the events at the party.  Law enforcement officers testified regarding 

their response and investigation.  Dunlap’s community custody officer testified that Dunlap had 

previous convictions for first degree child molestation and second degree child molestation.  

Dunlap did not testify.  The testimony from the people at the party provided the following relevant 

facts. 

                                                 
1  We use initials to protect the minors’ identities.  See Gen. Order 2011-1 of Division II, In re Use 

of Initials or Pseudonyms for Child Witnesses in Sex Crime Cases (Wash. Ct. App Aug. 23, 2011), 

https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/?fa=atc.genorders_orddisp&ordnumber=2011-

1&div=II. 

 
2  The trial court’s findings of fact state that O.A. was thirteen years old on the date of the incident.  

However, O.A. and her mother testified about O.A.’s date of birth, which would make O.A. twelve 

years old on the date of the incident. 
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 Ashleigh Davis hosted a small party at her home.  O.A. went to the party with her friend 

M.L. and M.L.’s mother Danielle Kertzman.  Kertzman was friends with Davis.  Davis’ boyfriend 

also attended the party, as did Davis’ son, B.D.  The children were all around the ages of eleven to 

thirteen years old on the date of the party.  O.A. was twelve years old. 

 O.A. and M.L. borrowed swimsuits from Davis to use the pool and hot tub in the backyard.  

When O.A. jumped in the pool, the straps to her swimsuit top got undone.  O.A. felt embarrassed 

about this incident and tied the swimsuit top back on. 

 The children also used the hot tub.  Dunlap spent an hour or two in the hot tub with the 

children.  While in the hot tub, Dunlap told O.A. and B.D. that they would be cute together and 

tried to get them to kiss.  Dunlap made this comment two or three times throughout the day.  O.A. 

perceived this comment to be weird and inappropriate.  O.A. believed Dunlap wanted her and B.D. 

to kiss in front of Dunlap.  Dunlap also kept mentioning O.A.’s swimsuit top falling off. 

 Dunlap told B.D. that he would “‘smash’” O.A. if Dunlap was B.D.’s age.  Verbatim Report 

of Proceedings (VRP) (Jun. 28, 2021) at 166.  B.D. understood this comment to mean Dunlap 

would have sex with O.A.  O.A. was in the hot tub when Dunlap said this, but Dunlap whispered 

this comment in B.D.’s ear.  Dunlap also pointed out whenever O.A.’s or M.L.’s swimsuit tops 

were slipping and told B.D. to look. 

M.L. heard Dunlap talking about O.A. and saying he would “‘hit that’” if he was her age.  

VRP (Jun. 28, 2021) at 107.  M.L. understood this comment to mean Dunlap would have sex with 

O.A.  M.L. remembered Dunlap saying things about O.A.’s body and other things that were sexual 

in nature while O.A. was in the hot tub, but M.L. could not remember exactly what Dunlap said. 
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 At one point, O.A. got out of the hot tub with M.L.  O.A. and M.L. told Kertzman that 

something felt off and Dunlap was acting weird.  Kertzman told O.A. and M.L. to get out of the 

hot tub or go talk to Davis’ boyfriend.  O.A. and M.L. returned to the hot tub, but M.L. only sat 

next to the hot tub to make sure nothing happened to O.A.  Dunlap kept making weird comments, 

and M.L. eventually left the hot tub again to tell her mother that she wanted to leave. 

 After M.L. left the hot tub area, O.A. was sitting in the hot tub across from B.D. and 

Dunlap.  O.A. felt someone else’s feet touching and rubbing her feet.  O.A. felt awkward and 

moved toward B.D.  B.D. testified that he never played footsie with O.A. or tickled her toes in the 

hot tub.  

Dunlap started moving closer to O.A., then grabbed her inner upper thigh and moved his 

hand up and down on her leg.  O.A. felt like Dunlap was going to put his hand underneath her 

swimsuit.  O.A. did not want Dunlap to touch her leg and did not tell Dunlap he could touch her 

leg. 

 O.A. got out of the hot tub, went inside, and told M.L. what happened.  M.L. told O.A. that 

she needed to tell Kertzman.  M.L. and O.A. told Kertzman that Dunlap had touched O.A.’s leg 

very close to her private part.  O.A. was crying and seemed upset.  Kertzman called the police and 

yelled at Dunlap.  O.A. and M.L. stayed in the house and heard a confrontation outside.  O.A.’s 

mother eventually showed up and took O.A. home. 

 In closing arguments, the State asked the trial court to find Dunlap guilty of fourth degree 

assault with sexual motivation for touching O.A.’s leg.  The State also argued that Dunlap was 

guilty of communication with a minor for immoral purposes and had communicated his desires by 
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words and conduct, including touching O.A.’s toes and touching her upper thigh.  Specifically, the 

State argued that the touching was “basically the culmination” of Dunlap’s words and conduct, 

and the touching was “very strong evidence of the message [Dunlap] was conveying that he wished 

to engage in improper, immoral sexual conduct with [O.A.].”  VRP (Jun. 28, 2021) at 222. 

 The trial court found Dunlap guilty of communication with a minor for immoral purposes, 

fourth degree assault with sexual motivation, and furnishing liquor to minors.  In its oral ruling, 

the trial court discussed the communication with a minor for immoral purposes charge.  The trial 

court reviewed Dunlap’s behavior at the party and the sexual discussions leading up to the leg 

touching.  The trial court stated that 

[a]ll of this would have been suggested in mere smoke up until the point at which 

[Dunlap] touched [O.A.’s] leg at the end.  When it got to that point, then it becomes 

harder and harder to conclude that the actions of [Dunlap] were merely smoke.  At 

that point, I think we see flames. 

 

VRP (Jun. 28, 2021) at 242.  The trial court also compared the leg touching to crossing the Rubicon 

River, making Dunlap’s intentions clear both in the present and in hindsight.  The trial court found 

Dunlap guilty of communication with a minor for immoral purposes shortly after making these 

metaphors. 

 The trial court entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law that included the 

following relevant findings of fact: 

6) While in the hot tub, the defendant made a series of lewd sexual remarks to 

O.A. or in her presence. 

 

7) These remarks including [sic] telling O.A. and B.D. that they should “kiss” or 

“make out.” O.A. felt the defendant was suggesting they engage in this conduct 

in his presence. 

 



No.  56199-9-II 

 

 

 

6 

. . . . 

 

9) The defendant remarked that if he was B.D.’s age he would “hit that” or “smash 

that” in reference to O.A. The minors present understood this to be a reference 

to engaging in sexual conduct or sexual intercourse. 

 

. . . . 

 

13) While in the hot tub, the defendant tickled O.A.’s toes under the water. He also 

moved towards O.A. and placed his hand on her upper thigh. O.A. did not 

consent to this physical contact and found it [to] be offensive. 

 

. . . . 

 

17) The Court finds that the defendant wished to communicate, and did in fact 

communicate, to O.A. that he found her sexually desirable. The Court finds that 

the essence of this communication was the defendant inviting or attempting to 

cause O.A. to engage in sexual contact with him or with other persons present 

as a sexual exhibition for his viewing. The defendant’s communication was 

made by both words and conduct. This communication was for an immoral 

purpose, given the age disparities between the defendant and O.A. 

 

18) The Court finds the touching of O.A.’s thigh by the defendant was an assault as 

it was unwanted and objectively offensive contact with her person. The Court 

further finds this crime was sexually motivated, as the defendant committed it 

for the purpose of his sexual gratification. 

 

Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 33-34. 

 The trial court sentenced Dunlap to 24-60 months of total confinement for communication 

with a minor for immoral purposes.  The trial court also sentenced Dunlap to 364 days total 

confinement for fourth degree assault with sexual motivation and another 364 days for furnishing 

liquor to minors.  The trial court ordered the sentences to run concurrently.  Despite the trial court 

finding Dunlap indigent and stating that it would “waive the discretionary legal financial 

obligations,” the trial court imposed community custody supervision fees and an LFO collection 

fee.  VRP (Aug. 3, 2021) at 271.   
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 Dunlap appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

A. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

 Dunlap argues that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes.  As part of his insufficiency of the evidence 

challenge, Dunlap argues that the trial court erred in making five findings of fact. 

 We review challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence de novo.  State v. Rich, 184 Wn.2d 

897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016).  We view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and 

“determine whether any rational fact finder could have found the elements of the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt.”  State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105, 330 P.3d 182 (2014).  “Specifically, 

following a bench trial, appellate review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence 

supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law.”  Id. 

at 105-06.3  “‘Substantial evidence’ is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the 

truth of the asserted premise.”  Id. at 106 (quoting State v. Stevenson, 128 Wn. App. 179, 193, 114 

P.3d 699 (2005)). 

                                                 
3  The State argues that we should not apply the standard of review articulated by our Supreme 

Court in Homan.  But our Supreme Court has not overturned Homan, and we are constrained to 

follow our Supreme Court precedent.  State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227 (1984). 

 

 Further, trial courts are required by court rule to enter findings of fact and conclusions of 

law following a criminal bench trial.  CrR 6.1(d).  “The purpose of requiring written findings and 

conclusions is to ensure efficient and accurate appellate review.”  State v. Cannon, 130 Wn.2d 

313, 329, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996).  No such requirement exists for a jury trial.  This difference 

between bench and jury trials necessitates different standards of review on appeal.  Therefore, we 

apply the standard of review articulated in Homan. 
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 An insufficiency of the evidence claim admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all 

reasonable inferences that can be drawn from that evidence.  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 

829 P.2d 1068 (1992).  All such inferences “must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted 

most strongly against the defendant.”  Id.  Direct and circumstantial evidence are equally reliable.  

State v. Miller, 179 Wn. App. 91, 105, 316 P.3d 1143 (2014).  And we defer to the trier of fact on 

issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of evidence.  State v. 

Ague-Masters, 138 Wn. App. 86, 102, 156 P.3d 265 (2007). 

 1. Findings of Fact 

 Dunlap argues that the trial court erred in making findings of fact 6, 7, 9, 13, and 17.  We 

disagree. 

a. Finding of fact 6 

 Dunlap assigns error to finding of fact 6, which states that “[w]hile in the hot tub, the 

defendant made a series of lewd sexual remarks to O.A. or in her presence.”  CP at 33.  Dunlap 

argues that, because O.A. only specifically testified about Dunlap’s comments that her and B.D. 

were cute together and should kiss, Dunlap did not make lewd sexual remarks to O.A.  

However, finding of fact 6 states that the lewd sexual remarks were made “to O.A. or in 

her presence.”  CP at 33 (emphasis added).  B.D. testified about Dunlap saying he would “‘smash’” 

O.A. while he was in the hot tub with O.A.  VRP (Jun. 28, 2021) at 166.  M.L. testified that Dunlap 

talked about O.A. and said he would “‘hit that.’”  VRP (Jun. 28, 2021) at 107.  Although she could 

not remember the exact comments, M.L. also remembered Dunlap saying things about O.A.’s body 

while O.A. was in the hot tub and other things that were sexual in nature.  Altogether, the three 
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children’s testimony about Dunlap’s comments is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person that 

Dunlap made lewd sexual comments to O.A. or in her presence while he was in the hot tub.  

Therefore, finding of fact 6 is supported by substantial evidence.   

b. Finding of fact 7 

 Dunlap assigns error to finding of fact 7, which states that “[t]hese remarks including [sic] 

telling O.A. and B.D. that they should ‘kiss’ or ‘make out.’  O.A. felt the defendant was suggesting 

they engage in this conduct in his presence.”  CP at 33.  Dunlap argues that, because no one testified 

about “making out,” this finding is unsupported. 

Finding of fact 7 is written in the alternative with an “or.”  While the record shows that no 

person specifically testified about “making out,” both O.A. and B.D. testified that Dunlap told 

them they should kiss.  Further, O.A. testified that she believed Dunlap wanted her and B.D. to 

kiss in front of Dunlap.  Together, O.A.’s and B.D.’s testimony is sufficient to persuade a fair-

minded person that Dunlap told O.A. and B.D. they should kiss and that O.A. felt Dunlap was 

suggesting they kiss in his presence.  Therefore, finding of fact 7 is supported by substantial 

evidence.   

c. Finding of fact 9 

 Dunlap assigns error to finding of fact 9, which states that “[t]he defendant remarked that 

if he was B.D.’s age he would ‘hit that’ or ‘smash that’ in reference to O.A. The minors present 

understood this to be a reference to engaging in sexual conduct or sexual intercourse.”  CP at 33.  

Dunlap argues that this finding of fact is unsupported because O.A. did not hear these statements 
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and thus could not have understood the statements to be references to sexual conduct or 

intercourse.  

But the finding of fact only states that the “minors present” understood the comments to be 

sexual references and does not specifically mention O.A.  CP at 33.  Both B.D. and M.L. were 

minors who were present, and both testified that they understood Dunlap’s comments to be 

references to Dunlap having sex with O.A.  B.D.’s and M.L.’s testimony about Dunlap’s comments 

is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person that Dunlap made the “hit that” or “smash that” 

comments about O.A., and that the minors present at the time of the comments understood them 

to be references to engaging in sexual conduct or sexual intercourse with O.A.  Therefore, finding 

of fact 9 is supported by substantial evidence.   

d. Finding of fact 13 

 Dunlap assigns error to finding of fact 13, which states that “[w]hile in the hot tub, the 

defendant tickled O.A.’s toes under the water. He also moved towards O.A. and placed his hand 

on her upper thigh. O.A. did not consent to this physical contact and found it be offensive.”  CP at 

33.  Dunlap argues that the finding that Dunlap tickled O.A.’s toes under the water is unsupported 

by the evidence.  

While O.A. did not testify specifically about “tickling,” she did testify that someone in the 

hot tub with her touched and rubbed her feet.  The people in the hot tub were B.D. and Dunlap.  

B.D. testified that he did not play footsie with O.A. or tickle O.A.’s feet.  The circumstantial 

evidence allows an inference that Dunlap was the one who touched and rubbed O.A.’s feet in the 

hot tub.  To the extent that the finding should have used the word “touched” or “rubbed” instead 
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of “tickled,” this shift in wording does not affect the analysis or outcome regarding the sufficiency 

of the evidence.  O.A.’s and B.D.’s testimony on the foot touching is sufficient to persuade a fair-

minded person that Dunlap rubbed O.A.’s feet or toes.  Therefore, finding of fact 9 is supported 

by substantial evidence.   

e. Finding of fact 17 

 Finally, Dunlap assigns error to finding of fact 17, which states that 

[t]he Court finds that the defendant wished to communicate, and did in fact 

communicate, to O.A. that he found her sexually desirable. The Court finds that the 

essence of this communication was the defendant inviting or attempting to cause 

O.A. to engage in sexual contact with him or with other persons present as a sexual 

exhibition for his viewing. The defendant’s communication was made by both 

words and conduct. This communication was for an immoral purpose, given the 

age disparities between the defendant and O.A. 

 

CP at 34.  Dunlap argues that the evidence does not show that Dunlap’s communications were 

“inviting or attempting to cause O.A. to engage in sexual contact with him or with other persons 

present as a sexual exhibition for his viewing.”  CP at 34.   

But the children’s testimony showed that Dunlap repeatedly made remarks regarding O.A. 

and her body, mentioned O.A.’s swimsuit top falling off and pointed out when it was slipping, 

expressed a desire to have sex with O.A., and stated that B.D. and O.A. should kiss, which O.A. 

understood to mean in front of Dunlap.4  Further, the children’s testimony showed that Dunlap 

touched O.A.’s feet, then moved closer to O.A. and touched her upper inner thigh near her private 

                                                 
4  Dunlap argues that his comments that O.A. and B.D. should kiss were not sexual because they 

would not be sexual if used in a Disney movie, when taking prom photos, or when directing a 

coming-of-age movie.  But the record shows that the events in the hot tub were not comparable to 

a children’s movie, prom photoshoot, or movie set.  We reject Dunlap’s invitation to ignore the 

totality of the record revealing the sexual context of his comments. 
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part.  O.A. also testified that she felt like Dunlap was going to put his hand underneath her 

swimsuit.  The children’s testimony about Dunlap’s comments and conduct would persuade a fair-

minded person that Dunlap’s comments about kissing were intended to prompt sexual behavior 

with B.D. for Dunlap’s viewing and the thigh touch was attempting to cause O.A. to engage in 

sexual contact with Dunlap.  Therefore, finding of fact 17 is supported by substantial evidence.   

 2. Conclusion of Law 

 Dunlap argues that because the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes, the trial court erred by concluding that he is 

guilty of communication with a minor for immoral purposes.  We disagree. 

 The State charged Dunlap with communication with a minor for immoral purposes in 

violation of RCW 9.68A.090(2).5  To be convicted of communication with a minor for immoral 

purposes, the State had to prove that Dunlap communicated with O.A. “‘for the predatory purpose 

of promoting [her] exposure to and involvement in sexual misconduct.’”  State v. Hosier, 157 

Wn.2d 1, 9, 133 P.3d 936 (2006) (quoting State v. McNallie, 120 Wn.2d 925, 933, 846 P.2d 1358 

(1993)).  “Communication” includes both words and conduct.  Id. at 11.  The message must be 

                                                 
5  RCW 9.68A.090(2) provides that 

 

[a] person who communicates with a minor for immoral purposes is guilty of a class 

C felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW if the person has previously 

been convicted under this section or of a felony sexual offense under chapter 9.68A, 

9A.44, or 9A.64 RCW or of any other felony sexual offense in this or any other 

state or if the person communicates with a minor or with someone the person 

believes to be a minor for immoral purposes, including the purchase or sale of 

commercial sex acts and sex trafficking, through the sending of an electronic 

communication. 
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both transmitted by the defendant and received by the minor.  Id. at 9.  The statute “incorporates 

within its scope a relatively broad range of sexual conduct involving a minor.”  State v. Jackman, 

156 Wn.2d 736, 748, 132 P.3d 136 (2006).  Communications made for the defendant’s own sexual 

excitement are “exactly the sort of conduct the legislature intended to prohibit.”  Hosier, 157 

Wn.2d at 11. 

 Here, the trial court made findings of fact that are either supported by substantial evidence 

as discussed above, or are unchallenged and, therefore, verities on appeal.  See Homan, 181 Wn.2d 

at 106.  The trial court found that Dunlap spent several hours in a hot tub with three minors, made 

lewd sexual remarks to O.A. or in her presence, suggested that O.A. kiss B.D., repeatedly 

mentioned an incident with O.A.’s swimsuit becoming disheveled, told the minors that he would 

“‘hit that’” or “‘smash that’” in reference to OA., touched O.A.’s toes under the water, and put his 

hand on O.A.’s upper thigh.  CP at 33. 

 Dunlap argues that we should only consider the comments made directly to O.A.  It is true 

that the communications themselves must be both transmitted by the defendant and received by 

the minor.  Hosier, 157 Wn.2d at 9.  But Dunlap cites no authority stating that the comments made 

to the other children cannot be considered as context for interpreting the communications made to 

O.A.  Where a party cites no authority in support of a proposition, we may assume counsel has 

found none.  DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962); 

Helmbreck v. McPhee, 15 Wn. App. 2d 41, 57, 476 P.3d 589 (2020), review denied, 196 Wn.2d 

1047 (2021).  We hold that Dunlap’s comments to the other children can be considered as evidence 
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regarding the context of the communications to O.A. and how those communications could be 

interpreted. 

 Dunlap also argues that we should not consider the touching of O.A.’s thigh as evidence 

supporting the communication with a minor for immoral purposes conviction because the trial 

court did not explicitly mention the touching in finding of fact 17.  But the trial court found that 

Dunlap’s “communication was made by both words and conduct.”  CP at 34.  The trial court’s oral 

ruling shows that the “conduct” included Dunlap’s touching of O.A.’s thigh.  See State v. Kull, 

155 Wn.2d 80, 88, 118 P.3d 307 (2005) (“An appellate court may consider a trial court’s oral 

decision so long as it is not inconsistent with the trial court’s written findings and conclusions.”).  

Therefore, we can consider the thigh touching as part of the evidence supporting Dunlap’s 

conviction for communication with a minor for immoral purposes. 

 Further, Dunlap argues that his conviction should be reversed because the State failed to 

prove that he communicated with O.A. for the predatory purpose of promoting O.A.’s exposure to 

and involvement in illegal sexual misconduct.6  Dunlap argues that the statute does not apply to 

                                                 
6  It is unclear if Dunlap attempts to raise an unconstitutional vagueness argument in his reply brief 

regarding this interpretation of the communication with a minor for immoral purposes statute.  We 

do not consider any such argument because arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief are 

raised too late.  See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 

(1992) (“An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant 

consideration.”)  Further, as discussed in this opinion, the record shows that Dunlap sought to 

expose O.A. to and involve O.A. in illegal sexual misconduct.  Therefore, regardless of the 

outcome of an unconstitutional vagueness argument on this issue, the evidence still supports 

Dunlap’s conviction for communication with a minor for immoral purposes.  See State v. Schwab, 

141 Wn. App. 85, 95 n.6, 167 P.3d 1225 (2007) (“[W]e may not rule on a constitutional issue when 

we can decide the case on other grounds.”), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1009 (2008), cert. denied, 

555 U.S. 1188 (2009).  
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communications that promote legal sexual misconduct.  But we need not decide whether 

communications regarding legal sexual misconduct violate the statute because the evidence shows 

that Dunlap communicated with O.A. for the predatory purpose of promoting O.A.’s exposure to 

and involvement in illegal sexual misconduct.  Dunlap’s communications included touching 

O.A.’s thigh.  That act of touching was illegal sexual misconduct—the trial court concluded that 

the thigh touching constituted fourth degree assault with sexual motivation.  Further, any sexual 

contact between Dunlap and O.A. was illegal, given that Dunlap was thirty-nine years old and 

O.A. was twelve years old.  See RCW 9A.44.086(1).7 

 Therefore, the trial court’s findings of fact, all of which are either verities on appeal or 

supported by substantial evidence, support a conclusion that Dunlap communicated with O.A. for 

the predatory purpose of promoting her exposure to and involvement in sexual misconduct.  These 

findings support the trial court’s conclusion that Dunlap was guilty of communication with a minor 

for immoral purposes.  See Hosier, 157 Wn.2d at 9.  Accordingly, we affirm Dunlap’s conviction 

for communication with a minor for immoral purposes. 

  

                                                 
7  RCW 9A.44.086(1) provides that 

 

[a] person is guilty of child molestation in the second degree when the person has, 

or knowingly causes another person under the age of eighteen to have, sexual 

contact with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years 

old and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim. 

 

 RCW 9A.44.086 was amended in 2021.  However, no changes were made affecting this 

appeal.  Therefore, we cite to the current statute. 
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B. DOUBLE JEOPARDY 

 Dunlap argues that the trial court violated double jeopardy by entering convictions for both 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes and fourth degree assault with sexual 

motivation.  The State concedes that the communication with a minor for immoral purposes and 

fourth degree assault with sexual motivation convictions violate double jeopardy, and the fourth 

degree assault with sexual motivation conviction must be vacated.  We accept the State’s 

concession. 

 We review double jeopardy claims de novo.  State v. Fuller, 185 Wn.2d 30, 34, 367 P.3d 

1057 (2016).  The right to be free from double jeopardy protects a defendant from being punished 

for the same offense multiple times.  Id. at 33-34.  “Nevertheless, the legislature may 

constitutionally authorize multiple punishments for a single course of conduct.”  State v. 

Thompson, 192 Wn. App. 733, 737, 370 P.3d 586, review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1041 (2016).  

 We use a three-step analysis to determine whether the legislature authorized multiple 

punishments for one course of conduct.  Id.  First, we consider the legislative intent based on the 

language of the criminal statutes involved.  Id.  Second, if the statutes are silent, we apply the 

Blockburger8 “same evidence” test, “which asks if the crimes are the same in law and fact: in other 

words, whether, as charged, each offense includes elements not included in the other and whether 

proof of one offense would also prove the other.”  Id.  Third, if applicable, we apply the merger 

doctrine to determine legislative intent “where the degree of one offense is elevated by conduct 

constituting a separate offense.”  Id. at 737-38. 

                                                 
8  Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932). 
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 Here, the statutes for communication with a minor for immoral purposes and fourth degree 

assault do not provide any indication that the legislature intended to authorize cumulative 

punishment.  See RCW 9.68A.090; RCW 9A.36.041.9  And both parties agree that the merger 

doctrine does not apply to this case because neither of the offenses were used to elevate the other 

offense.  Therefore, we turn to the “same evidence” test.  Thompson, 192 Wn. App. at 737.  

 Under the same evidence test, we must determine “in a nonabstract manner, whether two 

offenses are the same in law and in fact.”  State v. Hancock, 17 Wn. App. 2d 113, 118, 484 P.3d 

514, review denied, 198 Wn.2d 1005 (2021).  “If each offense includes an element not included in 

the other, and each requires proof of a fact the other does not, then the offenses are not 

constitutionally the same under this test.”  State v. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675, 682, 212 P.3d 558 

(2009).  The same evidence test requires this court to “look to the entire record,” and how the case 

was charged and proven, to determine whether “each offense required proof of a fact that the other 

did not.”  Hancock, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 120; State v. Meneses, 169 Wn.2d 586, 594, 238 P.3d 495 

(2010). 

 As discussed above, for the communication with a minor for immoral purposes charge, the 

State was required to prove that Dunlap communicated with O.A. through words or conduct for 

the predatory purpose of exposing or involving O.A. in sexual misconduct.  Hosier, 157 Wn.2d at 

9, 11.  To prove fourth degree assault with sexual motivation, the State was required to prove that 

Dunlap intentionally touched O.A. in a harmful or offensive way for his own sexual gratification.  

                                                 
9  RCW 9A.36.041 was amended in 2020 and 2022.  However, no substantive changes were made 

affecting this appeal.  Therefore, we cite to the current statute. 
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RCW 9.94A.030(48)10; State v. Jarvis, 160 Wn. App. 111, 119, 246 P.3d 1280, review denied, 171 

Wn.2d 1029 (2011). 

 Here, the State argued that Dunlap’s touching of O.A. was part of Dunlap’s communication 

with a minor for immoral purposes.  The trial court noted in its written findings that the 

communication charge was proven by Dunlap’s “words and conduct.”  CP at 34.  Dunlap’s 

“conduct” proving the communication charge was the touching of O.A.’s thigh.  The touching of 

O.A.s thigh was the same conduct upon which the fourth degree assault with sexual motivation 

rested and was sufficient for proving fourth degree assault with sexual motivation.  See RCW 

9.94A.030(48); Jarvis, 160 Wn. App. at 119.  Given the way the State charged and proved the two 

offenses, the fourth degree assault with sexual motivation conviction required the same proof of 

fact which the communication with a minor for immoral purposes conviction required.  Therefore, 

the convictions were the same in law and fact, and the convictions violate double jeopardy.   

 When double jeopardy has been violated, the lesser conviction must be vacated, “meaning 

either the offense that forms part of the proof of the other (greater) offense or the offense that 

triggers the lesser sentence.”  State v. Albarran, 187 Wn.2d 15, 21-22, 383 P.3d 1037 (2016).  

Here, fourth degree assault with sexual motivation is the offense forming part of the proof for the 

communication with a minor for immoral purposes conviction.  Fourth degree assault with sexual 

motivation also triggers the lesser sentence—the trial court sentenced Dunlap to 364 days for 

fourth degree assault with sexual motivation and 24-60 months for communication with a minor 

                                                 
10  RCW 9.94A.030 was amended in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022.  However, no substantive 

changes were made affecting this appeal.  Therefore, we cite to the current statute. 
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for immoral purposes.  Therefore, fourth degree assault with sexual motivation meets both 

definitions of a “lesser” conviction.  Accordingly, we reverse Dunlap’s conviction for fourth 

degree assault with sexual motivation and remand for the trial court to vacate that charge. 

C. LFOS 

 Dunlap argues that the trial court erred by imposing community custody supervision fees 

and an LFO collection fee.  The State concedes that the community custody supervision fees and 

LFO collection fee were imposed in error and should be stricken.  We accept the State’s 

concession. 

 Under former RCW 9.94A.703(2)(d) (2018), trial courts could waive community custody 

supervision fees. Thus, community custody supervision fees were discretionary LFOs because they 

were waivable by the court. State v. Bowman, 198 Wn.2d 609, 629, 498 P.3d 478 (2021). 

 Trial courts are also authorized by RCW 36.18.190 to impose LFO collection fees.  RCW 

36.18.190 states in relevant part that “[t]he superior court may, at sentencing or at any time within 

ten years, assess as court costs the moneys paid for remuneration for services or charges paid to 

collection agencies or for collection services.”  (Emphasis added.)  The plain statutory language 

shows that LFO collection fees are also discretionary. 

 Here, the trial court found Dunlap indigent and stated that it intended to waive discretionary 

LFOs.  Because the challenged LFOs are both discretionary and the record is clear that the trial 

court intended to waive discretionary LFOs, we hold that the trial court erred in imposing the 

community custody supervision fees and LFO collection fee.   
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We affirm Dunlap’s communication with a minor for immoral purposes conviction,  

reverse his fourth degree assault with sexual motivation conviction, and remand to trial court to 

vacate the fourth degree assault with sexual motivation charge and resentence Dunlap in 

accordance with this opinion. 

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

 

  

 Lee, J. 

We concur:  

  

Glasgow, C.J.  

Price, J.  
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